
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 

TH[S ETTLEMENT AGREEMENT (the ..Agreement ..). the malerial terms of which are 
set fort h in Part 11 below. is made between Challenger ports Corporation ("'Respondent"). and the 
United tates Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division. Immigrant and Employee Rights 

ection c ·fER .. ) (together, '·the Parties"). 

I. BACKGROUND 

WHEREAS. !ER notified Respondent by leuer dated July 3. 20 19, that it had initiated an 
investigation of Respondent under 8 U..C. § I324b(d)( I), identified as DJ # 197-29-89, 
to determine whether Respondent engaged in any employment practices prohibited under 
the anti-discrimination provis ion or the Immigration and Nationality Act, 8 U ..C. § 1324b 
(..Act"'): 

WI IEREAS. [ER concluded. based upon its investigation. that there is reasonable cause to 
believe that Respondent engaged in hiring discrimination based on citizenship sraws. in 
violation of 8 U ..C. ~ I 324b(a)( I). pecifically. the invesligation found that in February 
and March 20 19. Respondent, through its Baltimore office. failed to consider qualified and 
available protecled U.. workers for full-time soccer instructor posilions based on its 
discriminatory preference for hiring soccer instrnctors who hold temporary visas under the 
H-28 visa program. in violation of 8 U ..C. § I 324b(a)( I): 

WHEREA , by entering this a_greement Respondent is not admitting that it violated any 
law including. but not limited to 8 U.S.C. § l324b(a)( I). or that it fail ed to consider 
qual ified and available prolected U.. workers for full-time soccer instruction positions 
based on an alleged discriminatory preference for hiring soccer instructors who hold 
temporary visas under the H-2B visa program: 

WI !£REAS. the parties wish to resolve IER's investigation and avoid contested litigation 
without further delay or expense and hereby acknowledge that they are voluntarily entering 
into Agreement: 

NOW, TH EREFORE. in consideration or the mutual promises contained below. and to 
full y and finally resolve the fER In vestigation as of the date of the latest ignature below. 
the Parties agree as fol lows: 

II. TERMS OF SETTLEMENT 

I. This Agreement shall become elTecti ve as of the date the last party signs the 
Agreement, referred to as the ·'Effective Date."' The term of this Agreement is t\\O 
years fo llowing the Effective Date. 

' This Agreement resolves any and all differences between the parties with respect 
to I ER· s in vestigation designated as DJ 197-29-89 through the Effective Date. l ER 
shall not seek from Respondent any additional relier beyond that referenced in this 
Agreement for the violations of 8 U.S.C. ~ 132-1,b(a}( I) that arc the subject of the 
investigation through the Effective Date. 



3. Respondent shall pay a civil penalty to the Un ited States Treasury in the amount of 
$6.000.00 (Six thousand and no/I 00 dol lars). 

4. Within two days of the Effective Date. Respondent shall provide !ER with the 
name. title, emai l address. and telephone number of the ind ividual responsible for 
effectuating payment of the civil penalty. Respondent shall pay the civi l pena lty 
discussed in Paragraph 3 via the Fed Wire electron ic fund transfer system within ten 
business days of receiving fund transfer instructions from I ER. On the day of 
payment, Respondent shall send confirmation of the payment to 
Ange1a.Miller5@usdoj.gov and Lorren. Love@usdoj.gov. The email confirming 
payment shal I have ··Chai lenger Sports Corporation, DJ # 197-29-89'' in the subjec t 
line. 

5. Respondent shall set aside a back pay fund of $36,820 to compensate up to three 
QuaIi fied Individuals who may have lost work because Respondent did not consider 
them for ful I-time soccer instructor positions in 20 19. The amount of back pay 
compensation- if any - and in terest due to each Qual ified Individual shall be 
determined pursuant to the procedure described in paragraphs 5(a) through 5(m) 
below. 

(a) A ··Qualified Individual:· as descri bed in this Paragraph, shall be any or al l 
of the three individual appli cants 

who were willing and able to accept such employment as 
described in Mary land State Workforce Agency Job Order Number 9244 14 
had s/he been o ffered the position, inc luding being will ing and able to 
commute or relocate to York or Hanover. PA and/or to the Wash inglon
Arlington-Alexandria. DC-VA-MD-WV metropolitan area. 

(b) With in 30 days from the Effective Date, IER wi ll send: (I) a written 
notification of this Agreement c--Notice Letter'") (A ttachment A); a copy of 
Maryland State Workforce Agency Job Order Number 9244 14 ("Job 
Order"') (Attachment 8 ): and an Appli cant Back Pay Claim Form ("'C laim 
Form·') (Attachment C) by U.S. mail and electronic mail (if an emai l 
address is available) to the three U.S. workers IER has identified vvithin 
Paragraph 5(a). to determine if they are Qualified Individuals. 

(c) Those individua l appl icants from the group of the three listed in 5(a) above 
who wish to be considered fo r back pay rel ief wi ll have 45 days l'rom the 
date of the Notice Letter to return the Claim Form to IER. unless the 
individual can demonstrate good cause (as determined by IER) for the 
fa ilure to return a Claim Form by the spec ified dead line. 

(d) In calculating the amount or back pay owed to each Qualified Individual: 

1. IER will calculate back pay at $14.58/hour, 35 hours/week. fo r 31 
weeks, and subtract the pay, if any, that the Qualified Individual 
earned from alternate employment during the contract period (i.e .. 
mi tigation earnings). and ca lculate inten:st using OPM's back pay 
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and interest calcu lator. avai lable at https://www.opm.gov/policy
data-oversight/pay-leave/back-pay-calculator/. No Qualified 
Individual may receive more than $ I 6,902 total backpay plus 
interest. 

11. A maximum of $ 16.902 of the backpay fund will be available to 
compensate QL1alified Individuals who were only able to work in the 
York and Hanover, PA area, which amount represents the salary plus 
interest for the one position available there. If there is more than 
one Qualified Ind ividual in this category, they may share in that total 
max imum on a pro rara basis, in accordance with the method set 
forth in subparagraph (iv). 

111 . A maximum of $36.820 in total will be available to compensate 
Qualified Individuals who were willing to commute or relocate to 
both York and Hanover. PA area and the Washington-Arlington
Alexandria. DC-VA-MD-WV metropoli tan area. 

iv. If the total amount of back pay plus interest that would be owed to 
al I Qua Ii fi ed Individuals exceeds $36.820, I ER shall initial ly 
calculate a pro rato amount of back pay for each QuaIi fi ed 
Individual using the fraction that represents the amount of back pay 
owed to the Qualified Individual compared to the total back pay fund 
amount avai I able fo r the various locations. The Part ies agree that 
Respondent"s total liabi lity to Qualified Individuals under this 
Paragraph shal I not exceed $36,820. 

v. In order for a claimant to receive any money fro m the pool ava ilable 
for each geographic area. the claimant must indicate they were 
availab le during the times and dates stated on the claim form in the 
geographic location for that poo l. However. if Respondent 
permitted any H-28 visa worker filling a position in those 
geographic locations to start work later than the date indicated on 
the claim form. or end work earlier than the date indicated on the 
claim fo rm. the claimant wi ll not be disqualified for indicating a lack 
of availability on those dates outside the date range when an 1-1-28 
visa worker in that geographic location provided services as 
described in the job order (Attachment B). 

(e) No later than 90 ca lendar days from the date of the Notice Letter. IER will 
initially ca lculate and notify Respondent of the amount of back pay owed 
to each claimant fER determines to be a Qualitied Individual. 

( f) Within 30 days from the date on which IER notifies Respondent of its 
determinations regarding the amoun t::; owed to each Qualified Individual 
pursuant to Paragraph 5(e). Respondent will notify IER by email to Angela 
Miller at Ange1a.Mil1er5@usdo j.gov. or any other personnel IER designates 
in wri ting. if Respondent disagrees with IER·s back pay determination. and 
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provide an explanation for its position along with copies of any supponing 
documents. 

(g) If Respondent disagrees under Paragraph S(t) with I ER ·s back pay 
determination, [ER will give consideration to in formation provided by 
Respondent and then make, in its sole discretion. the fin al determination 
regarding the amount to be paid. ifany. and wi ll. within 30 days of rece iving 
Respondent's objection under Paragraph S(f). notify Respondent in writing 
of IER. s fina l determination. If necessary, [ER ·s final determination wi II re
calculate any pro rata back pay determinations. taking into account the final 
number of Qualified Indi viduals and amounts to be paid. 

(h) If Respondent does not disagree under Paragraph SU) with any of IER" s 
back pay determinations under Paragraph 5(d), IER"s back pay 
detem,inations will become final. and Respondent shall. within 30 days of 
receiving I ER· s back pay determination pursuanl to Paragraph 5(e), send 
each Qualified Indiv idual by first class mail and email a Back Pay 
Determination Letter (Attachment D) indicating the amount of back pay to 
be received. The Back Pay Determination Letter mai ling sha ll contain any 
necessary tax fo rms and an envelope with sufticicnt postage. addressed to 
Respondent"s mai ling address. On the same day Respondent mails the Bae~ 
Pay Detennination Letters, Respondent shall send I ER an e-mail to Angela 
Mi Iler at Angela.Mi11er5@usdoj.gov. or any other personnel I ER designates 
in writing, in .PDF format, copies of the letters and self-addressed stamped 
envelopes. and envelopes addressed to Qualified Individuals. 

(i) If Respondent has disagreed with any of IER"s back pay deLerm inations 
under Paragraph SU), Respondent shall. within ten days or receiving YER's 
fina l back pay determination under Paragraph S(g). send each Qua lified 
Ind ividual the Back Pay Determination Letter and enclosures in accordance 
with the procedures in Paragraph S(h). 

U) Wilh in 15 days from Respondt::nfs receipt of applicable tax fo rms from a 
Qualified Jndividual. Respondent sha ll send to the address of the Qualified 
lndividual"s choice, the back pay amount (as determined by IER) in the form 
of a check via certified mai l or reliable courier service. accompanied by a 
payment transmittal notice. On the same day. Respondent shall send a copy 
of the check and payment Lransmittal notice to Ange la Miller at 
Angela.Mi11er5@usdoj.gov. or any other personnel fER designates in 
writing. 

(k) Respondent shall withhold applicable taxes based on the tax rate of the 
current ca lendar year. and shall provide the Qualified [ndividuals with any 
applicable income tax reporting fo rms. Respondent is separately 
responsible for paying any employer-side taxes or ocial ecurity 
contributions or other payments due under applicable federal or state law 
based on the back pay award. Respondent shall fo llow the applicable 
instructions contained in IRS Publication 957. including timely filing a 

mailto:Angela.Mi11er5@usdoj.gov
mailto:Angela.Mi11er5@usdoj.gov


pecial Wage Report Form with the Social Security Administration, to 
ensure that the back pay is credited to the quarter in which it would have 
been earned. 

(I ) All communications from Respondent to Qualified Individua ls relating to 
this Agreement. or the back pay claims process thereunder. shal l be 
submitted to IER for prior review and approval. Respondent shall not 
require Quali fi ed Individuals to accept or otherwise agree to any additional 
terms as a condition of receiving the back wages outlined in this Paragraph. 

(m) Any remaining amount of the $36,820 back pay fund that has not been 
distributed to Qual ified Individuals pursuant to the process set forth in this 
paragraph shall revert to Respondent. 

6. In the event Respondent engages in use of H-28 program, Respond~nt shall 
supplement recrui tment of U.S. workers for all available work opportunities before 
employing H-2 B visa workers to do that work . These requi red and supplemental 
recruitment activities shall include. at a minimum. the following: 

(a) Respondent shal l post or cause to be posted a job advertisement (or 
comparable notice of employment opportunity) on CareerPlug. It shall be 
posted no later than three months before the projected start date of work.. 
and shal I not be removed until 21 calendar days before the start date of 
work. 

(b) Respondent shall consider for employment and hire all ava ilable and 
qualified U.S. worker applicants who apply more than 21 days before the 
date of need for al I anticipated work regardless of whether Respondent had 
anticipated assigning the work to H~2B visa workers for whom it petitioned. 

(c) Respondent must also continue to update each recruitment report after 
submitting it to DOL (as required by 20 C.F.R. §655.48(b)). and then send 
a copy of each one to I ER 14 calendar days after the actual start date of the 
work described in each job order. 

7. In the event Respondent decides to resume efforts to hire full -time soccer coaches 
under the H-2B visa program. it shall. within thirty (30) calendar days from such 
resumption, train al l ind ividuals with any responsibi lity for recruiting. hiring. or 
scheduling soccer instructors on their obligation to comply with 8 U .S.C. § 1324b 
using I ER provided training. 

{a) The trainings shall consist of viewing a remote IER webinar presentation. 
which !ER shall provide on a date mutually agreeable to the parties. 

(b) All employees will be paid their normal rate of pay during the training. and 
the training will occur during their normally schedu led workdays and work 
hours. Respondent shall bear all costs associated with these training 
sessions. 



(c) During the term of this Agreement. all new staff hired or promoted by 
Respondent into positions with any responsibility listed Paragraph 7, after 
the training described in Paragraph 7(a) has been conducted, shall rev iew a 
recorded version of the webinar within 60 calendar days of hire or 
promotion. 

(d) Respondent shall confirm the initia l webinar part1c1pation required in 
Paragraph 7(a), and subsequent viewings of the webinar training required 
by Paragraph 7(c). via email to angela.mi11er5@usdoj.gov. or any other 
individual IER designates during the term of this Agreement. within ten 
calendar days of completion of each training session. 

8. Within 120 calendar days of the Effective Date. Respondent shall revise and/or 
create employment policies that prohibit discrimination because of citizenship. 
immigration status. and national origin in recruiting. hiring, or fi ring. in violation 
of 8 U ..C. s l 3:?.4b. Respondent wil l revise or create policies to ensure that such 
policies: 

(a) Include citizenship, immigration status, and national origin as prohibited 
bases of discrimination. and ensure inclusion of these bases in any similar 
Equal Employment Opportuni ty statements that Respondent makes 
available to the public or employees: 

(b) Provide that after attempting to resolve concerns internally. refe r individuals 
who complain. fon11ally or informally. of discrimination in the hiring. firing 
or Form 1-9/E-Verify employment eligibili ty verification or reverification 
processes immediately to I ER by directing the affected individual to the I ER 
Poster and I ER ·s worker hotline (800-255-7688) and website. 
https://www. justice.gov/ ier, and advise the affected individual of his or her 
right to file a charge of discrimination with IER: and 

(C) Prohi bit any reprisal action aga inst any individual fo r having opposed any 
employment practice made unlawful by 8 U..C. § 1324b, fo r filing any 
charge alleging violation( s) of 8 U . . C. § 1324b. or participating in any 
lawful manner in any l ER investigation or matter. 

9. During the term of this Agreement. IER reserves the right to make such reasonable 
inquiries as it, in its discretion. believes necessary or appropriate to assess 
Respondent" s compliance with this Agreement, including but not limited to. 
requiring wri tten reports from Respondent concerning its compliance: inspecting 
Respondent' s premises: interviewing Respondenfs employees. ofii cials or other 
persons: and requesting copies of Respondent's documents. 

I0. Nothing in thi s Agreement limits IER·s right to inspect Respondent's Forms 1-9 
within three business days pursuant to 8 C.F.R. § 274a.2(b)(2)(ii) . Respondent 
shall . at I ER· s discretion, prov ide the documents in Exce l spreadsheet format unless 
requested otherwise. 
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11 . If IER has reason to be lieve that Respondent is in vio lation of any provision of this 
Agreement, IER may notify Respondent of the purported violation rather than 
initiate a new discrimination investigation or seek co judicially enforce the 
Agreement. Jf I ER has exercised its discretion to notify Respondent of the 
purported violation. Respondent shall have 30 days from the date !ER notifies it of 
the purported violation(s) to cure the violation(s) to IER"s satis faction. IER' s be lief 
of a violation shall not be conclusive or binding on the parties. 

12. This Agreement does not affec t the right ot'any individual to file a charge with l ER 
alleging an un fa ir immigration-related employment practice against Respondent 
with IER. IER's authority to investigate Respondent or fil e a complaint on behalf 
of any such indi vidual, or I ER ·s authority to conduct an independent investigation 
of Respondent's employment practices occurring after the Effective Date or outside 
the scope of the IER Investigation. 

111. ADDITIONAL TERMS OF SETTLEMENT 

13. This Agreement fully resolves any and all differences under 8 U.S.C. § 13246 
between the parties relat ing to the IER Investigation. DJ # 197-29-89 through the 
Effecti ve Date. 

1-1-. Th is Agreement sets fo rth the entire agreement between the Parties and full y 
supersedes any and all prior agreements or understand ings between the Parties 
pertaining to the subject matter herein. This Agreement is governc:d by the laws of 
the Un ited tates. This Agreement shall be deemed to have been drafted by both 
Parties and shall not be construed aga inst any one pa11y in the event of a subsequent 
dispute concerning the terms of the Agreement. The Parties agree that the 
paragraphs set forth in Part II of this Agreement (entitled ·'Terms of Settlement"') 
are material terms, without waiver of either Parties· right to argue that other terms 
in the Agreement are material. 

15. The United States District Court for the District of Maryland shall be the preferred 
venue for enforcement of any claims over which that court has subject matter 
jurisdiction. Otherwise, a party must bring any claim or counterclaim to enforce the 
Agreement in a court of competent jurisdiction. This provision does not constitute 
a waiver of sovereign immunity or any other defense the United tates might have 
against a claim for enforcement or counterclaims asserted aga inst it. 

16. hould any court dec lare or detennine that any provision of this Agreement is 
illegal or invalid, the validity of the remaining parts, terms or provisions shall not 
be affected and the term or provision shal l be deemed not to be a part of this 
Agreement. The Parties shall not. individually or in combination with another, seek 
to have any court dec lare or determine that any provision of this Agreement is 
invalid. 

17. The Parties agree that, as of the Effecti ve Date. litigation concern ing the violations 
of 8 U.S.C. § 1324b that are the subject of the I ER Investigati on is not reasonably 
foreseeable. To Lhe extent that either party prev iously implemented a litigation hold 



to preserve documents. ekclronically stored information. or Lhings related to chis 
matter. the party is no longer requ ired to maintain such a litigntion hold. Nothing 
in th is paragraph relieves either party of any other obligaLions imposed b) this 
Agreement. 

18. The Parties agree to bear their own costs. attorneys· foes and other expenses 
incurred in the I ER Investigation. 

19. Thi s Agreement may be execuled in multiple counterparts. each of which together 
shall be considered an original but all or which sht1 II constitute one agreement. The 
Parties shall be bound by facsimi le signatures. 

Dated: ~ 1--- 'L--cJ i.o2- l 
Chn llcngcr or · Corp. 
8263 Flinl Str1J 
Lenexa. K 662 1 -4 

Immigrant and Employee Rights Section 

B;Albolri:L.~ 
Depul) pecial Counsel 

Jodi Danis 
pccial Litigation Counse l 

Angela J. Miller 
Trial Altorney 




